RECEIVED

MAY 24 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001403
Case No. 2019-CP-10-00105

Endre Tomaschek and
Evan Tomaschek

Appellants,

v.

Edith C. Miller; Don L.
Sumter; Carolina Elite Real
Estate, LLC; Christopher
Gibbs; Buzz Off TPC, LLC
d/b/a Buzzoff Termite & Pest
Control, LLC; GWS, Inc.;
Gaynelle Whittle-Shipp;
Stucco Inspector, LLC; Solid
Ground Home Inspections,
LLC; Jerry L. Anderson d/b/a
"Anderson Roofing"; Delano
M. Francis; and Robert Oliver
d/b/a "Home Repair by
Robert,"

Defendants.

Of whom Solid Ground Home

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did the trial court err in deciding a home inspector is not subject to a professional negligence claim?
- II. Did the trial court err in deciding a claim for negligent provision of a service is barred by the economic loss rule?
- III. Did the trial court err in applying an unconscionable limitation of liability provision in a home inspector's contract?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants Endre and Evan Tomaschek commenced this action on January 9, 2019, to recover for damages suffered as the result of their purchase of a home with undisclosed defective conditions. (Compl.) On February 19, 2020, Respondent Solid Ground Home Inspections, LLC moved for summary judgment on Appellants' negligence claims and for a declaratory judgment on the breach of contract claim.¹ (Mot. Summ. J.) Following a July 16, 2020 hearing on Respondent's motion for summary judgment, the Honorable Circuit Court Judge Bentley D. Price entered a July 22, 2020 Form 4 Order denying the motion. (Tr. of July 16, 2020 Hearing; July 22, 2020 Order.) On August 4, 2020, Respondent moved for reconsideration. (Mot. for Recons.) Following a September 23, 2020 hearing on the motion for reconsideration, Judge Price entered a September 30, 2020 Form 4 Order granting the motion. (Tr. of Sept. 23, 2020 Hearing; Sept. 30, 2020 Order.) On October 20, 2020, Appellants noticed this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises from the purchase of a home in Charleston by Appellants, husband and wife first-time homebuyers. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. D, Aff. of Endre Tomaschek ¶¶ 3–4.) Appellant Endre Tomaschek (“Endre”) engaged Respondent as a licensed home inspector to perform a home inspection prior to Appellants closing on the purchase of the home. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. A, Dep. of Erika Houmard-Solid Ground 30(b)(6) 15:23–16:21 & Ex. D, Aff. of Endre Tomaschek ¶ 8.) Endre communicated to Respondent that Appellants were under a tight deadline to have the home inspected, and

¹ On November 25, 2019, Appellants moved to amend their pleadings to add a breach of contract claim against Respondent. Anticipating the amendment and added claim, Respondent moved for declaratory relief on the proposed breach of contract claim. Appellants' motion to amend was heard at the same hearing as Respondent's motion for summary judgment and request for declaratory relief, and Judge Price granted Appellants' motion to amend in the July 22, 2020 Order.

Respondent told Endre the inspection would not be scheduled until he signed Respondent's form contract for inspection services. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. A, Dep. of Erika Houmard-Solid Ground 30(b)(6) 16:18–18:7 & Ex. D, Aff. of Endre Tomaschek ¶¶ 10–15.) While neither conspicuous nor made known to Endre, Respondent's contract purported to limit Respondent's liability through the following terms:

NEITHER THE INSPECTION NOR THE REPORT IS A WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, REGARDING THE ADEQUACY, PERFORMANCE, OR CONDITION OF ANY INSPECT STRUCTURE, SYSTEM OR ITEM.

...

Client understands and agrees that any claim for failure to accurately report the visually discernible conditions of the subject property as limited herein above shall be made in writing and reported to the inspector within ten (10) business days of discovery. Client further agrees that with the exception of emergency conditions, client or client's agents, employees or independent contractors will make no alterations, modifications or repairs to the claimed discrepancy prior to a re-inspection by Solid Ground Home Inspections. Client understands and agrees that any failure to notify Solid Ground a [sic] stated above shall constitute a waiver of any and all claims for said failure to accurately report the condition in question. The parties agrees that the maximum liability for Solid Ground Home Inspections, or its agent, arising from failure to perform any of the obligations stated in this agreement, is limited to an amount NOT TO EXCEED THE FEE PAID FOR THE INSPECTION.

(Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. E, Solid Ground Contract ¶¶ 8 & 13.)

Endre signed the contract, and Respondent performed the inspection and produced a report stating its findings. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. B, Dep. of Stephen Houmard-Solid Ground 30(b)(6) 13:18–25, Ex. D, Aff. of Endre Tomaschek ¶ 12, Ex. E, Solid Ground Contract, Ex. F, Solid Ground Report.) The report identified some items of concern in the home but did not identify the significant foundation issues and other deficiencies that are the subject of this action. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. F, Solid Ground Report, Ex. G, Sisroy Report.)

Appellants purchased the home and shortly after moving into the home, Appellants began to observe cracking and separating flooring and finishes, sloping of the floors, termite damage, and wood rot in the rear portion of the home—an addition built after the original construction of the home but prior to Appellants’ purchase of the home. (First Am. Compl. ¶¶ 92–93.) Upon further investigation, Appellants learned the rear portion of the home does not have a foundation; instead, the wood floor framing was placed directly on the soil below in some locations and on a single concrete block in other locations—all in violation of applicable building codes. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. G, Sisroy Report.) As a direct result of the lack of a foundation, the addition is sustaining damage from soil settlement, wood rot, and termite damage. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. G, Sisroy Report.)

Respondent admitted in its deposition testimony that the American Society of Home Inspectors’ standards (“ASHI Standards”) set forth a minimum level of inspection a home inspector is to provide. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. D, Depo. of Stephen Houmard-Solid Ground 30(b)(6) 10:4–18, Ex. H, ASHI Standards.) Respondent’s inspection and report did not comply with the ASHI Standards, did not meet the professional standard of care for home inspectors, and were negligently performed as shown by a comparison of the ASHI Standards against what Respondent reported and the actual condition of the home. In particular, the ASHI Standards provide that a home inspector “shall” “inspect readily accessible, visually observable, installed systems and components listed” in the standards, “provide the client with a written report . . . that states those systems and components inspected that, in the professional judgment of the inspector, are . . . significantly deficient,” and “inspect structural components including the foundation and framing.” (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. H, ASHI Standards §§ 2.2.A, 2.2.B, & 3.1.B.) Failing to comply with those standards, Respondent reported that the entire home

is a slab-on-grade foundation and failed to identify any concern regarding the observably deficient construction of the foundation for the rear portion of the home.

Appellants' expert engineer in this action determined the foundation of the rear addition to the home was improperly constructed and the improper foundation condition should have been obvious to any professional home inspector. Specifically, the engineer found:

- “Deficiencies such as lack of footings, lack of proper foundation, framing in ground contact and framing on damaged structural material were evident and obvious conditions”
- “Foundation and wall failure were evident from out of level conditions readily observable in the sunroom east end”
- “Simple probe testing revealed clearly that no footing was installed”

(Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. G, Sisroy Report 3–4.) Appellants' engineer concluded the addition “will continue to deteriorate and become more structurally unsound and unstable” and therefore, the addition needs to “be demolished and rebuilt.” (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. G, Sisroy Report 5.)

As the result of the extensive problems in the home and the extensive repairs needed to remedy those problems, Appellants filed this action against the former owners, Respondent, and others. Appellants both assert a negligence cause of action against Respondent, and Endre asserts a breach of contract cause of action against Respondent. (Second Am. Compl.)

Respondent moved for summary judgment on Appellants' negligence claim and for a declaratory judgment that its liability is contractually limited on the breach of contract claim. Faced with a limitation of liability provision that—even if enforceable—does not cover negligence claims, Respondent sought to eliminate the negligence claim through the economic loss rule. Respondent argued the economic loss rule limits Appellants' claims to a contract claim and bars Appellants' negligence claim. Respondent also moved for a declaratory judgment that its liability

to Appellants is limited to \$405 pursuant to the limitation of liability provision in its contract. Appellants opposed Respondent's motion on the grounds that: (1) Respondent owed a duty of professional care and the economic loss rule does not apply to a tort claim for professional negligence, (2) Respondent contracted for the provision of a service and the economic loss rule does not apply to contracts for services, and (3) the limitation of liability provision is unconscionable and therefore unenforceable.

Judge Price initially denied Respondent's motion in its entirety through a July 22, 2020 Form 4 Order stating only: "Solid Ground Home Inspection Company's Motion for Summary Judgment is Denied." (July 22, 2020 Order.) Respondent moved for reconsideration, and Judge Price heard arguments on the motion for reconsideration. Without providing any explanation as to why he believed his earlier ruling was incorrect, Judge Price entered a September 23, 2020 Form 4 Order stating only: "Defendant Solid Ground Home Inspections, LLC's Motion to Alter or Amend Court's Ruling is GRANTED as to both defendants."² (Sept. 23, 2020 Order.) Because Appellants' three grounds for opposing the motion are each an independent basis on which the trial court could have denied the motion, at least in part, Judge Price rejected all three grounds in granting Respondent's motion for reconsideration in its entirety.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"In reviewing the grant of summary judgment, [the appellate court] applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56, SCRCF: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Pittman v. Grand Strand Ent., Inc.*, 363 S.C. 531, 536, 611 S.E.2d 922, 925 (2005).

² Appellants are unclear as to what Judge Price intended by the reference to "both defendants."

“On appeal, all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence must be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party.” *Id.*

Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides that summary judgment may be granted “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” In cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, as is applicable here, “the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock v. Mid-S. Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). Summary judgment is only appropriate in “the rare case whe[n] a verdict is not reasonably possible under the facts presented.” *Bloom v. Ravoira*, 339 S.C. 417, 425, 529 S.E.2d 710, 714 (2000).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON APPELLANTS’ NEGLIGENCE CLAIM BECAUSE A HOME INSPECTOR IS SUBJECT TO A PROFESSIONAL NEGLIGENCE CLAIM AND THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE DOES NOT BAR PROFESSIONAL NEGLIGENCE CLAIMS.

While the economic loss rule limits tort liability in relation to contracts for a product, the economic loss rule does not bar professional negligence claims. A home inspector in South Carolina is a person licensed by the state to use specialized knowledge of home construction to inspect homes and to report their opinions as to the condition of homes in accordance with a set of industry standards. Accordingly, a home inspector is a professional subject to professional negligence claims, and the economic loss rule does not bar professional negligence claims against

home inspectors. Therefore, the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment on Appellants' professional negligence claim on the basis it is barred by the economic loss rule.³

The economic loss rule provides that “there is no tort liability for a product defect if the damage suffered by the plaintiff is only to the product itself.” *Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber & Mfg. Co., Inc.*, 299 S.C. 335, 341, 384 S.E.2d 730, 734 (1989). The economic loss rule does not bar tort claims for economic losses where there is a duty owed by the tortfeasor separate from the tortfeasor's contractual obligation. *Tommy L. Griffin Plumbing & Heating Co. v. Jordan, Jones & Goulding, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 49, 55, 463 S.E.2d 85, 88 (1995) (“When, however, there is a special relationship between the tortfeasor and the injured party not arising in contract, the breach of that duty of care will support a tort action.”); *Kennedy*, 299 S.C. at 345–46, 384 S.E.2d at 737 (“If a builder performs construction in such a way that he violates a contractual duty *only*, then his liability is only contractual. If he acts in such a way as to violate a legal duty, however, his liability is both in contract and in tort.”). Such a separate duty exists where the tortfeasor is a professional who owes a professional duty of care to the injured party. *Griffin Plumbing*, 320 S.C. at 55, 463

³ It appears uncontested in the record that the limitation of liability provision in Respondent's form contract does not cover negligence claims. The limitation of liability provision relied upon by Respondent provides: “The parties agree that the maximum liability for [Respondent], or its agent, *arising from failure to perform any of the obligations stated in this agreement*, is limited to an amount NOT TO EXCEED THE FEE PAID FOR THE INSPECTION.” (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. E, Solid Ground Contract (emphasis added).) Thus, the plain language of the limitation of liability provision provides that it only applies to a failure to perform a contractual obligation and does not extend to a failure to act in accordance with a standard of care that exists independent of the contract. Furthermore, while the plain language of the provision is clear that it does not cover anything more than failures to perform contractual obligations, even if there were any ambiguity as to whether the provision covered negligence claims, any such ambiguity must be resolved against Respondent. Respondent drafted the provision and is the party relying on it, and therefore, the language of the provision is to be strictly construed against Respondent. *Maybank v. BB&T Corp.*, 416 S.C. 541, 574, 787 S.E.2d 498, 515 (2016) (“However, notwithstanding our general acceptance of limitation of liability provisions and exculpatory clauses, the law disfavors such provisions, and courts must strictly construe the language of the provision against the drafter.”); *Pride v. S. Bell Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 244 S.C. 615, 619, 138 S.E.2d 155, 157 (“Since such provisions tend to induce want of care, they are not favored by the law and will be strictly construed against the party relying thereon.”); *S.C. Elec. & Gas Co. v. Combustion Eng'g, Inc.*, 283 S.C. 182, 191, 322 S.E.2d 453, 458 (Ct. App. 1984) (“An exculpatory clause, our Supreme Court has held, is to be strictly construed against the party relying thereon.”). Therefore, even were there any ambiguity as to the scope of the limitation of liability provision, which there is not, that ambiguity would be construed against Respondent to find that the provision covers only breach of contract claims.

S.E.2d at 89 (“These professionals, however, owe a duty to the client and sometimes to third parties which arises separate and distinct from the contract for services. We see no logical reason to insulate design professionals from liability when the relationship between the design professional and the plaintiff is such that the design professional owes a professional duty to the plaintiff arising separate and distinct from any contractual duties between the parties or with third parties.” (internal citation omitted)).

A professional duty of care exists for any “profession which furnishes skilled services for compensation.” *Doe v. Am. Red Cross Blood Servs., S.C. Region*, 297 S.C. 430, 435, 377 S.E.2d 323, 326 (1989); *see also Evans v. Rite Aid Corp.*, 324 S.C. 269, 275, 478 S.E.2d 846, 849 (1996) (“In South Carolina, *American Red Cross* . . . clarified the standard of care in professional negligence causes of action: ‘the professional failed to conform to the generally recognized and accepted practices in his profession.’ This standard applies to ‘physicians, dentists, ophthalmologists, accountants and *any other professional which furnishes skilled services for compensation.*” (emphasis added) (quoting *Am. Red Cross*, 297 S.C. at 435, 377 S.E.2d at 326)). “A ‘professional’ act or service is one arising out of a vocation, calling, occupation, or employment involving specialized knowledge, labor, or skill, and the labor or skill involved is predominately mental or intellectual, rather than physical or manual.” *S.C. Med. Malpractice Liab. Ins. Joint Underwriting Ass’n v. Ferry*, 291 S.C. 460, 463–64, 354 S.E.2d 378, 380 (1987) (quoting *Marx v. Hartford Accident & Indem. Co.*, 157 N.W.2d 870 (Neb. 1968)). Accordingly, whenever a person or business furnishes such a skilled service for compensation, that person or business owes the customer a duty to perform the service in accordance with the generally recognized and accepted practices of the profession.

While South Carolina's appellate courts have not yet addressed whether the skilled service provided by home inspectors gives rise to a professional negligence claim, the service home inspectors provide is a professional service as established by: (1) the nature of the service, (2) the South Carolina licensing laws for home inspectors, and (3) a comparison of home inspection services to other services found to be professional services by South Carolina courts. First, as to the nature of the service provided by home inspectors, Respondent admits it provides home inspection services for compensation and that performing home inspections requires a license, training, and knowledge that an average person does not have. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. B, Dep. of Stephen Houmard-Solid Ground 30(b)(6) 29:3–10, Ex. J, Solid Ground's Responses to Ps.' Requests to Admit ¶¶ 1–4.) Specifically, Respondent admits that home inspectors must perform their work according to a "standard of practice," with the standard of practice being the ASHI Standards. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. B, Dep. of Stephen Houmard-Solid Ground 30(b)(6) 9:13–19.) Respondent admits the ASHI Standards set out a minimum level of inspection a home inspector is to provide, *i.e.*, accepted practices of the profession. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. B, Dep. of Stephen Houmard-Solid Ground 30(b)(6) 10:13–18.)

Respondent also admits that to be licensed as a home inspector in South Carolina requires training and an examination. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. B, Dep. of Stephen Houmard-Solid Ground 30(b)(6) 23:13–24:6.) Respondent admits the information covered in the training and on the examination include construction methods, the components of a home, potential defects in the components of a home, methods of performing home inspections, and the ASHI Standards. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. B, Dep. of Stephen Houmard-Solid Ground 30(b)(6) 24:10–27:6.) Respondent admits that to be a licensed home inspector, a person must have

knowledge of residential foundations, the different types of residential foundations, and the potentially visually observable defects in a residential foundation, among other necessary knowledge. (Mem. in Oppn. to Mot. for Summ. J., Ex. B, Dep. of Stephen Houmard-Solid Ground 30(b)(6) 27:7–29:2.) Therefore, the knowledge that a home inspector must have to provide home inspection services is specialized knowledge that an average person does not have, and which requires education and training to acquire.

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