RECEIVED

AUG 20 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-001403
Lower Court Case No. 2019-CP-10-00105

Endre Tomaschek and Evan Tomaschek,

Appellants

v.

Edith C. Miller; Don L. Sumter; Carolina Elite Real Estate, LLC; Christopher Gibbs; Buzz Off TPC, LLC d/b/a Buzzoff Termite & Pest Control, LLC; GWS, Inc.; Gaynelle Whittle-Shipp; Stucco Inspector, LLC; Solid Ground Home Inspections, LLC; Jerry L. Anderson d/b/a "Anderson Roofing"; Delano M. Francis; and Robert Oliver d/b/a "Home Repair by Robert,"

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE A STATUTORY CLAIM OF PROFESSIONAL NEGLIGENCE DOES NOT APPLY TO A HOME INSPECTOR, AND, AS A RESULT, THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE DOES BAR APPELLANTS' CLAIM OF NEGLIGENCE AGAINST SOLID GROUND.

In South Carolina, a claim for professional negligence is governed by statute that specifically lists the professionals that may be liable in a professional negligence action and home inspectors are not included. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100 *et seq.* The Supreme Court of South Carolina has concluded that the General Assembly sought to promote tort reform by creating a more efficient process in resolving *all* professional negligence cases by enacting section 15-36-100. *See Ranucci v. Crain*, 409 S.C. 493, 509, 763 S.E.2d 189, 197 (2014) (emphasis added).

A. SOUTH CAROLINA STATUTE SPECIFICALLY PRESCRIBES THE PROFESSIONS THAT ARE SUBJECT TO PROFESSIONAL NEGLIGENCE CLAIMS, AND HOME INSPECTORS ARE NOT INCLUDED.

For all professional negligence claims arising after 2005, South Carolina law specifically prescribes the twenty-two (22) professions that are subject to a professional negligence cause of action. *See Ranucci*, 409 S.C. at 509, 763 S.E.2d at 197; S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100 (G). Home inspectors are not a profession listed under the statute, and, as a result, they are not subject to claims of professional negligence in South Carolina. Solid Ground does not deny that a home inspector in South Carolina is licensed in the state to inspect homes and report its opinions as to the condition of the homes. However, the professional negligence statute specifically does not apply to home inspectors.

Appellants argue that South Carolina courts have allowed a professional negligence claim to survive against professions outside of those specifically prescribed by statute. The examples given by Appellant are termite inspectors, insurance agents, and real estate agents. However,

Appellant's citation of this Court's opinions in *McAlhany v. Carter*, 415 S.C. 54, 781 S.E.2d 105 (S.C. Ct. App. 2015), *Carolina Production Maintenance, Inc. v. U.S. Fidelity and Guar. Co.*, 310 S.C. 32, 425 S.E.2d 39 (S.C. Ct. App. 1992), and *Lengel v. Tom Jenkins Realty, Inc.*, 286 S.C. 515, 334 S.E.2d 834 (S.C. Ct. App. 1985) does not exactly comport with Appellants' position because none of the cited cases relate to professional negligence claims or the claim's alleged effect on the economic loss rule.

In *McAlhany*, the plaintiff homeowner brought claims against the prior owner of a property for negligent misrepresentation and against a termite inspector for *negligence*, alleging that the company did not perform a wood infestation inspection in accordance with the South Carolina Pest Control Act and the result of the defendant's alleged misconduct ultimately led to personal injury. *See McAlhany*, 415 S.C. at 58, 781 S.E.2d at 107 (emphasis added).

In *Carolina Production Maintenance, Inc.*, one of the defendants was an insurance agent that was sued for *negligence* in obtaining an insurance policy where coverage was held to not exist. *See Carolina Production Maintenance, Inc.*, 310 S.C. at 34, 425 S.E.2d at 40 (emphasis added). The Court explained that insurers and their agents generally do not have a duty to advise an insured, and a special duty by an insurance agent only exists if the insurance agent does give advice. *See id.* at 38, 425 S.E.2d at 43. Nevertheless, the case did not involve a professional negligence claim against an insurance agent. *See generally id.*

In *Lengel*, the plaintiffs brought claims of *negligence* and conversion against their real estate agent's company. *See Lengel*, 286 S.C. at 516, 334 S.E.2d at 835.

Here, Solid Ground is a home inspector. A home inspector is not specifically listed in statute governing professional negligence causes of action, and case law has not specifically addressed whether home inspectors are subject to claims of professional negligence. As a result,

the trial court did not err in granting Solid Ground's motion for summary judgment as to Appellants' claim of professional negligence.

B. THE SOUTH CAROLINA GENERAL ASSEMBLY'S STATUTORY SCHEME REGARDING HOME INSPECTOR LICENSING AND LIABILITY FOR UNDISCLOSED DEFECTS FURTHER SHOWS THAT THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY DID NOT INTEND TO SUBJECT HOME INSPECTORS TO CLAIMS OF PROFESSIONAL NEGLIGENCE.

South Carolina statute governs the licensing and any civil penalty against a home inspector through the South Carolina Residential Builders Commission. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 40-59-500 *et seq.* The statute provides that no person may hold himself out as a home inspector unless that person is licensed by the South Carolina Residential Builders Commission. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 40-59-500. The statute also governs the home inspection reports and specifically allows a home inspector to limit the scope of the inspection before performing the same. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 40-59-560 (C). Further, while it is true that the statute allows for denial, suspension, or revocation of licenses and civil penalties of home inspectors for a multitude of reasons, which include and are not limited to malpractice, misrepresentation, or failure to exercise due diligence, the statute also specifically lists civil penalty for violations of any provision specifically listed. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 40-59-580 *et seq.* For a first violation, a civil penalty in the amount not to exceed one hundred dollars may be issued by the commission. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 40-59-580 (B)(1). For a second violation, a civil penalty in the amount to exceed two hundred dollars may be issued. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 40-59-580 (B)(2). For a third and any subsequent violation, a penalty in an amount not to exceed one thousand dollars may be issued. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 40-59-580 (B)(3).

The South Carolina Supreme Court examined the statutory scheme drafted by the General Assembly regarding home inspections and liability for undisclosed defects in the sale of residential property. *See Gladden v. Boykin.*, 402 S.C. 140, 143, 739 S.E.2d 882, 883 (2013). It is true that

the statutory scheme affords protection from unqualified home inspectors by licensure requirements, but the General Assembly did not require home inspectors to carry errors and omissions liability insurance. *See id.*, 402 S.C. at 143, 739 S.E.2d at 883 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 40-59-500 *et seq.*). As further evidence to show that home buyers were not without remedy, the Court looked to the Residential Property Condition Disclosure Act, which protects buyers and requires they are informed by the seller of defects of which the seller has knowledge. *See id.*, 402 S.C. at 144, 739 S.E.2d at 884 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 27-50-10 *et seq.*). The Court concluded that was the most logical place for imposition of liability is upon the seller of the defective property when it comes to a home's defects. *See id.* Specifically, the Residential Property Condition Disclosure Act provides:

An owner who knowingly violates or fails to perform any duty prescribed by any provision of this article or who discloses any material information on the disclosure statement that he knows to be false, incomplete, or misleading is liable for actual damages proximately caused to the purchaser and court costs. The court may award reasonable attorney fees incurred by the prevailing party.

S.C. Code Ann. § 27-50-65.

Here, Appellants argue that South Carolina law establishes that home inspectors provide a professional service that subsequently allows them to be subject to professional negligence. This argument is inconsistent with the above cited statutes. It is clear that the South Carolina General Assembly drafted a statutory scheme allowing for the licensing and civil penalty of home inspectors under specific scenarios. Those civil penalties are specifically listed, do not include or reference a claim for professional liability, are related to administrative proceedings paid to the South Carolina Real Estate Commission, and the actual amounts of those civil penalties clearly show the General Assembly did not plan to subject home inspectors to severe penalty. Furthermore, there is no evidence in the record that Solid Ground has been subjected to any

discipline by the South Carolina Residential Builders Commission as it relates to this home inspection. Most importantly, home buyers are not without remedy when they purchase a home with undisclosed defects due to the Residential Property Condition Disclosure Act, and the Appellants have filed suit against the sellers.

C. EVEN IF THIS COURT FINDS THAT A PROFESSIONAL NEGLIGENCE CLAIM CAN BE BROUGHT AGAINST A HOME INSPECTOR, APPELLANTS' COMPLAINT FAILS TO PROPERLY ALLEGE A CLAIM OF PROFESSIONAL NEGLIGENCE BECAUSE NO EXPERT AFFIDAVIT WAS CONTEMPORANEOUSLY ATTACHED OR EVER PROVIDED AS IT RELATES TO THE CLAIMS AGAINST SOLID GROUND.³

Under South Carolina law, in an action for damages alleging professional negligence against a professional licensed by or registered with the State of South Carolina that is specifically listed in the statute, the plaintiff must file as part of the complaint an affidavit of an expert witness which must specify at least one negligent act or omission claimed to exist and the factual basis for each claim based on the available evidence at the time of the filing of the affidavit. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100 (B). This statute does provide exception to the contemporaneous filing requirement of the expert affidavit in professional negligence actions, but no exception clearly applies here. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100 (C).

Where professional negligence is alleged, expert testimony will usually be necessary to establish both the standard of care and the defendant's departure therefrom, unless the subject matter is within the ambit of common knowledge and experience, so that no special learning is needed to evaluate the conduct of the defendant. *See Hoeffner v. The Citadel*, 311 S.C. 361, 429 S.E.2d 190 (1993) (citing *Pederson v. Gould*, 288 S.C. 141, 341 S.E.2d 633 (1986)); S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100 (C)(2).

³ The purpose of this subsection is purely to address Appellants' arguments to the contrary in its brief. There is no basis in law or in fact for Appellants' argument on this issue.

Here, Appellants never filed an expert affidavit to accompany their claim of professional negligence against Solid Ground, and the affidavit of Robert Sisroy attached to the Amended Summons and Complaint only addresses allegations against the engineer, Gaynelle Whittle-Shipp. Appellants never attached any expert affidavit to their Second Summons and Complaint, though the original affidavit of Robert Sisroy was referenced in the Second Summons and Complaint, as to the claims against Gaynelle Whittle-Shipp. As a result, even if this Court finds that Appellants have a viable professional negligence cause of action against Solid Ground, Appellants failed to properly allege a claim of professional negligence against Solid Ground and their argument as to their claim of professional negligence is effectively moot. If Appellants suggest that an affidavit was not needed because the subject matter surrounding a home inspection is within the ambit of common knowledge, this position would go directly against their argument in the Appellants' Initial Brief. Thus, the trial court did not err in granting Solid Ground's motion for summary judgment as to Appellants' claim of negligence.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN GRANTING SOLID GROUND'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE APPELLANTS' TORT CLAIMS ARE BARRED BY THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE.

The basic theory behind the economic loss rule is that when two parties have a contract and the opportunity to negotiate how they want to be protected by the contract, the policy considerations and incentives for proper conduct of tort law are irrelevant. *See East River Steamship Corp. v. TransAmerica Delaval, Inc.*, 476 U.S. 858, 872-74 (U.S. 1986). "When it is questionable whether an action is plead on contract or in tort, doubt is generally resolved in favor of regarding the action to be on contract." *Seebaldt v. First Federal Sav. & Laon Ass'n*, 269 S.C. 691, 693, 239 S.E.2d 726, 727 (1977) (citing *V.P. Randolph & Company v. Walker*, 78 S.C. 157, 59 S.E. 856 (1907)). The economic loss rule exists to assist in determining whether contract or tort

theories are applicable to a given case. *See Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber and Mfg. Co., Inc.*, 299 S.C. 335, 345, 384 S.E.2d 730, 736 (1989).

In *Kennedy*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina sought to clarify the economic loss rule's framework by focusing on activity, not consequence. *See Kennedy*, 299 S.C. at 345, 384 S.E.2d at 737 (stating that if a builder performs construction in such a way that he only violates a contractual duty, then his liability is only contractual). The Supreme Court of South Carolina later expounded on the economic loss rule of *Kennedy* in *Tommy L. Griffin Plumbing & Heating Co. v. Jordan, Jones & Goulding, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 49, 463 S.E.2d 85 (1995) and stated:

“In our view, the *Kennedy* application of the ‘economic loss’ rule maintains the dividing line between tort and contract while recognizing the realities of modern tort law. Purely ‘economic loss’ may be recoverable under a variety of tort theories. The question, thus, is not whether the damages are physical or economic. Rather the question of whether the plaintiff may maintain an action in tort for purely economic loss turns on the determination of the source of the duty plaintiff claims the defendant owed. ***A breach of duty which arises under the provisions of a contract between the parties must be redressed under contract, and a tort action will not lie.*** A breach of duty arising independently of any contract duties between the parties, however, may support a tort action.

In most instances, a negligence action will not lie when the parties are in privity of contract. When, however, there is a special relationship between the alleged tortfeasor and the injured party not arising in contract, the breach of that duty of care will support a tort action”

Tommy L. Griffin Plumbing & Heating Co., 320 S.C. at 54-55, 463 S.E.2d at 88 (emphasis added).

Here, the Circuit Court properly granted Solid Ground's Motion for Summary Judgment. The economic loss rule bars Appellants' tort claims against Solid Ground because those claims arise only out of the contract between Solid Ground and the Appellants'. No claims arise from a special duty owed by Solid Ground, and no facts have been presented to show that Solid Ground ever breached any special duty owed, if one did exist.

A. EVEN IF APPELLANTS HAVE A VIABLE CLAIM OF PROFESSIONAL NEGLIGENCE, THAT CAUSE OF ACTION IS ONLY A VEILED BREACH OF CONTRACT CLAIM AND THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE WILL STILL APPLY.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals used the analysis in *Griffin* to hold that no viable professional negligence cause of action existed between a client and an architect where the alleged breaches of duty were only contractual in nature and did not arise from a special relationship between the parties. *See Koontz v. Thomas*, 333 S.C. 702, 711-12, 511 S.E.2d 407, 412 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999). The Court held that the appellant client's tort allegations of professional negligence *were merely veiled breach of contract claims and cannot be maintained as a separate cause of action*. *See Koontz*, 333 S.C. at 712, 511 S.E.2d at 412 (emphasis added).

In *Koontz*, the appellant sued an architectural firm for professional negligence, negligent misrepresentation, and breach of contract in connection with an architectural contract, and this Court affirmed the circuit court's grant of summary judgment as to all three causes of action. *See id.*, 333 S.C. at 706, 511 S.E.2d at 409. The architectural firm's contract with appellant related to the design of a new residence and made no warranties or representations that actual construction bids or negotiated prices may or may not vary from any construction cost the architect prepared. *See id.*, 511 S.E.2d at 409. Ultimately, the designs resulted in contractor bids for construction that were greater than the architect's cost estimate. *See id.* Appellant then terminated the contract with the architectural firm and demanded the return of all architectural fees paid; the appellant hired a subsequent architect to design a home that was slightly more expensive than the original architect's estimate. *See id.* Appellant then filed suit against the original architectural firm. *See id.*, 333 S.C. at 707, 511 S.E.2d at 410.

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